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WILLIAM WHYTE

These notes make no attempt to be a biography of William Whyte, but merely to collate the information about his connection with Charlotte Chapel from information available in the Chapel archives. Although he exercised significant ministries in other places, Rev William Whyte, M.A., evangelist, pastor and Bible teacher, always regarded Charlotte Chapel as his ‘beloved spiritual home’ (his own phrase). 
Born in Edin​burgh, he was educated at George Heriot’s School and Heriot-Watt College, and apprenticed as a quantity surveyor. While he was attending George Heriot’s School, Edmund Trickett, a Chapel member and a cobbler to trade, had his shop in Lothian Street and later in Lauriston Place. Trickett had a huge Bible in his front window, opened at a new page every day with verses marked for passers-by to read. He held a prayer meeting in his backshop at noon each day and, as a schoolboy, William Whyte used to slip round at the lunch hour with two or three other boys to attend Brother Trickett’s prayer meeting. He always had a warm welcome.

It is not clear when he first attended the Chapel, but it seems that he had no other church connection. His father was an elder in Holyrood Abbey and also a director of the Gorgie Railway Mission. His mother was also from Edinburgh. He served in the First World War with the 9th Royal Scots (‘Dandy Ninth’), where he became known as the ‘holy Corporal’ and he was then commissioned from the ranks as an officer with the Seaforth Highlanders, rising to Company Commander. The discipline of riding a horse in military style gave him an uprightness of carriage that he retained until his death. He was involved in the trench warfare of major battles and in a dug-out in the trenches, he committed his life afresh to the Lord’s work in the service of the gospel of Jesus Christ. He testified that after demobilisation, traumatised by his experiences in the trenches, he found Dr. Scroggie’s preaching a deep spiritual experience almost akin to a second conversion.

I am one of a large company of young men and women who were influenced for life by his ministry.  Some of us had come back from the trenches of the First World War, disillusioned and frustrated, but we received fresh vision and inspiration under his preaching and teaching and for that we are eternally grateful.  Many received the call to devote their lives to the work of the Gospel and have gone to the ends of the earth and into the home ministry.
  

He was baptised in the Chapel by Graham Scroggie on Monday 18 March 1918, just before he left for Flanders – ‘Lieut. Wm Whyte (since left for the front)’.  He and his wife joined on 10 November 1918.

He enrolled for Spurgeon’s College in London, but after his wartime experiences he felt that he could not settle to classroom life. He remained a member of the Chapel and worked as an evangelist around Scotland, but was not yet employed by the Chapel.  Starting with the Railway Mission in March 1919, he began by conducting an evangelistic campaign in Kilmarnock, assisted by Mrs. Whyte. He was accepted in June by Baptist Union of Scotland for Home Mission.
 One account of those years, appearing in the Record fifty years later, said that he was with the Railway Mission for five years, then came to Charlotte Chapel as an evangelist, but that cannot be correct because he was employed by the Chapel Evangelistic Association by April 1920, beginning with a Chapel mission in a tent in Bath Street, Portobello and then he led successful missions over the next six months in Ratho, Bathgate, Prestonpans and Bonnyrigg. Graham Scroggie wanted him to go to the outback of Australia, when he wanted to move on, but he preferred England and he became Superintendent of Mission in Stroud, ‘Pastor of the People’s Hall’.
 His daughter was born there.

Evangelistic campaigning led to a call to the ministry, and Mr Whyte entered a period of remarkable activity. He studied at Glasgow University, graduating Master of Arts, simultaneously he studied theology at the Baptist Theological College of Scotland in Glasgow; and at the same time he acted as student pastor at Baptist Churches, first at Johnstone (1924–6) and then at Carluke.
 On the completion of his studies, in 1926, the Carluke Church recognised his gifts and appointed him to the full-time pastoral care at the church.  He gave the remainder of his working life to pastoral charge, being called to the Govan Church in Glasgow in 1930, and then to the Portobello Church in Edinburgh from 1935–44.
 His ‘open home’ at the manse, combined with his pulpit ministry, had an influence on young people which is reflected in the number who themselves entered the ministry or went for overseas Christian Service – not least his own son Bill, who, at the date of his father’s death, was the minister at the Alloa Baptist Church.

Graham Scroggie had a particular interest in young men who were studying for the Christian ministry. In his book, William Whyte expressed his gratitude ‘for his advise and help given with kindliness and pastoral love’. After graduating from the University and Theological College one was required to do a three-year course of reading in some of the outstanding theological works. It covered every aspect of Christian doctrine and meant reading at least one and sometimes two books a month. It meant a great deal of hard work and to use Mr. Scroggie’s own phrase ‘sweating of one’s brain’.  This course was given to others but all who received it found inestimable benefit.

The only extant sermon from those days in the Chapel records is an address given in the Chapel on 25 July 1926.
 He had a deeply committed per​sonal relationship to Jesus Christ and a full and committed belief in the inspiration and authority of the Word of God. After his first time in Portobello (1935–44), he had nine fruitful years (1944–53) at the West Croyden Tabernacle, then he returned for a second pastorate at the Portobello Church in 1953, remaining there until ‘retiring age’ in 1960. 

It was no surprise to those who knew him that, when the honour of President of the Baptist Union of Scot​land was conferred upon him in 1960 (October 1960 to October 1961). His presidential address was entitled, ‘The Authority of the Gospel’. He felt it inappropriate to remain in membership in Portobello when a new pastor was called, so he re-joined the Chapel on 1st January 1961. Co-opted as an elder, he played a significant part in the vacancy of 1961–2.
 

It was the beginning of a very active retirement, not only in pulpit supply around the Scottish churches (where he was greatly in demand), and in lecturing to the Faith Mission (who renewed their invitation to him year after year), and as an Elder of Charlotte Chapel.  He took full charge of a Pastoral Group.

Mr Whyte not only chaired the Vacancy Committee, when Dr Alan Redpath’s health failed, but he frequently occupied the pulpit during the vacancy of 1966 to 1969.  A whole generation of children will (or should) remember the points he illustrated from postage stamps, and his profound knowledge of Hebrew and Greek, coupled with his evident love of the Scriptures, enriched his public ministry to the adult congregation.

He was always a keen participant in the Christian Endeavour Movement and served several times as President of the Scottish Christian Endeavour Union and of the London Christian Endeavour Federation.

During his retirement, he fulfilled a long-standing ambi​tion by publishing the first history of Charlotte Chapel from 1808​ to 1953, under the title Revival in Rose Street. He deliberately stopped then, because he was pained by the ecumenical debates and decisions which took place in the remainder of the 1950’s and which still overshadowed policy decisions in the Vacancy between 1966 and 1969. He said to the present writer that it was for someone else, who was not so emotionally involved, to take up the story from 1953. He had earlier written books entitled Bible Study, The Lord’s Supper and The Triumph of Christ.

His first wife died and he remarried in the Chapel on 29 May 1971 but, sadly, Audrey, although his junior in years, died shortly after their marriage, and he looked after himself in his flat in Morningside for the remainder of his days. The discipline of riding a horse in military style gave Mr Whyte an upright​ness of carriage that he retained until his death at the age of 86. To the end, he started every day with a cold bath and recommended it to others as a good discipline both physical and spiritual. 

Mr. Whyte was present at both services on Sunday 18 October 1981, at the church prayer meeting on the Monday and he lectured to the Faith Mission on the Tuesday morning. During that afternoon, he felt unwell, was taken to the Edinburgh Royal Infirmary and died in the early hours of Thursday 22 October, aged 86.

Obituary, Scottish Baptist Magazine, December 1981, p. 14

The ministry of Rev William Whyte, MA, evangelist, pastor and Bible teacher, began as an evangelist, sup​ported by Charlotte Chapel, in a tent in Bath Street, Portobello, in the early 1920s. For the next 60 years he exer​cised a ministry up and down Scotland – together with a foray into England​ – as an evangelist; as student pastor of Johnstone and Carluke and then as pastor at Carluke, Govan, Portobello and West Croydon; and as lecturer at the Faith Mission College where he was in attendance on the day on which he was last admitted to hospital.

William Whyte was born in Edin​burgh and educated at George Heriot’s School. During the first World War he joined the Seaforth Highlanders where he became known as the `holy Corporal’. He rose from the ranks and became a captain serving in the trenches where in a dug-out he committed his life to the Lord’s work in the service of the Gospel of Jesus Christ.

His ministries were peculiarly blessed of God and the friends, par​ticularly of Portobello, have warm memories of the almost revival days in which they lived during Mr Whyte’s first ministry there. As a result of this, not a few young men and women, including Mr Whyte’s own son Bill, felt and answered the call into full-time ministry and there are many firmly established Christian homes and families that give testimony to the foundation laid in their lives through Mr Whyte’s preaching and reaching.

That all this and much more should be, is not surprising when one becomes aware of the source of Mr Whyte’s own strength-deeply committed per​sonal relationship to Jesus Christ and a full committed belief in the inspiration and authority of the Word of God. It was of little surprise to those who knew him that, when the honour of president of the Baptist Union of Scot​land was conferred upon him in 1960 his presidential address was entitled, `The Authority of the Gospel’. William Whyte was zealous for Christ and jealous of the inspiration and authority of the Word of God. It could truly be said of him that he was `Mighty in the Scriptures’ and that `he preached the Word; instant in season and out of season; reproving, rebuking and ex​horting with all long suffering and doctrine’ and that he truly was an evangelist making full proof of his ministry.

We give God thanks for a beloved soldier and servant of Jesus Christ and praise God for every personal and corporate memory of him.

Revival in Rose Street

In November 1973, the deacons gave Mr Whyte permission to access the Chapel archives, in order to write a history, ‘on the clear understanding that the church should not financially sponsor the project’.
 He thought, wrongly, that The Saint Andrew Press of the Church of Scotland would publish it and hold the stock. When the manuscript was ready, early in 1976, they obtained quotations from Linsday & Co. of Blackfriars Street, for 1,000 copies at £606, 1,500 copies at £726 or 2,000 at £846, but looked to him for the money.
 The Finance Committee declined to go back on their earlier condition, so several friends rallied round and ordered 500 copies for £500. They were sold at cost, £1 per copy, but less than three hundred were taken. On Mr. Whyte’s death in 1981, his son took the remainder and began to give them away to anyone interested, including the Scottish Baptist History Project. Learning of this, the writer (who had contributed toward the printing) procured the return of fifty, which was just as well because copies are still asked for from time to time. The book bears no date, but it was printed in the early summer of 1976 and launched at a lunch given by Alex and Kath Cameron in their home.
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